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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2019 2018

HKS$'000 HK$'000

Revenue 79,210 67,920
Loss for the Year (225,172) (16,148)
Net Assets 1,899 228,745
Bank Balances and cash 6,672 13,915

Revenue Loss for the Year
(HK$'000) (HK$’000)
2018 67,920 2018 16,148
Net Assets Bank Balances and Cash
(HK$'000) (HK$'000)
2019 | 1809 o0 | R
2018 228,745 2018 13,915

Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited currently has a portfolio of business interests in the telecommunication, information
technology, financial solution, software development and distribution sectors in Hong Kong, Singapore and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") and is actively pursuing other opportunities that are complementary to its existing operations or
have high growth potential, with ability to generate healthy cashflows and capabilities to maximise the Group's long-term value.
The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code:

524).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited (formerly known
as e-Kong Group Limited) (the “Company” together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the Group’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year under review, the Group has been constantly reviewing its business portfolio and striving to strike a balance in
deploying the Group's resources between developing its telecommunication and information technology business (the “Telecom
Business”) in Asia and seeking for new businesses and investments, aimed at diversifying the Group’s business in order to
enhance shareholders’ value and maintain long-term sustainable growth.

Facing the intensified competitive pressure in Telecom Business, the Group has been striving to expand its wholesale voice
telecommunications and/or channel-driven service distribution business segment(s) so as to maintain a comparable level of
business activities of the Telecom Business. The Group is advancing its progress in building its infrastructure and team in
servicing the wholesale voice telecommunications segment, while diligent in rationalising its cost structure for the Telecom
Business. At the same time, the Group is pursuing different opportunities that may expand the business portfolio of the group
in the Telecommunications, Media & Technology (TMT) sector.

Facing increasingly uncertain economy prospect due to COVID-19, the Group has been considering streamlining its existing
business portfolio. As Hangzhou Susong Technology Company Limited* ()N #R2EEHZ B BR A &) has underperformed since
the acquisition in 2016, the Group will carry on the effort to strive to dispose this business segment. As the characteristic town
project in Wusu city has been delayed due to the safety consideration arising from an oil and gas transportation pipeline that
was found under the originally planned construction land while the new construction land is still under planning and discussion
status, the Group expect this project will not generate investment returns to the Group in the short term. As disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 13 May 2020, the Company has entered into a legally binding sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party in relation to disposal of entire equity interest in B&R Investment Holding Limited,
which in turn holds 25% equity interest in a PRC company engaging in the development of the aforesaid characteristic town
project. This potential disposal is still subject to the approval on special general meeting by shareholders. The possible divesting
of above business segments will help strengthen our financial and liquidity positions.

Going forward, the Group will strive to diversify its business portfolio by engaging in new business opportunities arising from
the Belt and Road Initiative as well as other potential investment opportunities. Moreover, the Group also believes that there
would still be potential business opportunities in the industries of new emerging technology and information technology
during the period of economic downturn due to COVID-19 in the future. The Board is optimistic that in a long view, business
diversification will enhance shareholder value and contribute sustainable growth.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our appreciation to all the fellow directors, employees and business partners for
their great support, hard work, dedication and commitment to the Group.

Zhao Ruiyong
Chairman

15 May 2020
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BUSINESS REVIEW

OVERALL REVIEW

Over the past decade, the Group has been focusing on the Telecom Business. During the year under review, as a result of
our process of streamlining the Telecom Business, the Group’s revenue increased by 16.6% to approximately HK$79.2 million
compared to approximately HK$67.9 million for the prior year, and the overall gross margin of the Group (as a percentage of its
revenue) dropped to 17.0% compared to 45.3% for the prior year.

Loss from operations for the year was approximately HK$40.8 million, representing a decrease of 12.8% compared to loss
of approximately HK$46.8 million for the previous year due to more efficient management of cost control. Loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company of approximately HK$219.0 million was recorded for the Year as compared with loss of
approximately HK$11.7 million for the prior year. Such significant increase of loss was mainly attributable to the net loss on
disposal of listed securities and unrealised fair value losses in respect of investment in listed securities held for trading and the
impairment loss on the intangible assets and other receivables.

TELECOM BUSINESS (TELECOMMUNICATION AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
BUSINESS)

Total revenue recorded by the Telecom Business, which comprises the voice telecommunication and information technology
businesses in Singapore and Hong Kong, and remains as the Group’s major revenue contributor in 2019, was approximately
HK$75.1 million, representing an increase of 62.9% compared to approximately HK$46.1 million for the prior year. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the expansion of the Group’s wholesale voice telecommunications segment of the Telecom
Business during the year under review. In view of the growth of the wholesale voice telecommunication business, barring the
unforeseen circumstances, the Group will keep striving to develop its wholesale voice telecommunications, and/or channel-
driven service distribution business segment(s) so as to maintain a comparable level of business activities of the Telecom Business
as in past years.

The Group is advancing its progress in building its infrastructure and team in servicing the wholesale voice telecommunications
segment, while diligent in rationalising its cost structure for the Telecom Business. At the same time, the Group is also pursuing
different opportunities that may expand the business portfolio of the Group in the Telecommunications, Media & Technology
(TMT) sector.

IT AND DISTRIBUTION BUSINESS (FINANCIAL PAYMENT PROCESSING SOLUTION
AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT SERVICES, AND DISTRIBUTION BUSINESS)

Total revenue from the IT and Distribution Business was approximately HK$4.2 million that was all attributable to the financial
payment processing solution and software development services segment, and recorded a decrease of 80.7% compared to
approximately HK$21.8 million for the previous year, mainly due to that no revenue was generated from distribution business
segment during the year under review.

As at the date of this report, Hangzhou Susong Technology Company Limited* (#1/M & BRI F B R 2 7)) (“Hangzhou
Susong”), an indirect subsidiary of the Company, has not recovered the advances to Zhejiang Hong Lan Investment Company
Limited* ()T Z2 W& E BBR A A]) (“Hong Lan”) as per the announcement of the Company dated 28 April 2019. The Group
will keep striving to look for solutions to recover the advances including taking necessary legal actions against relevant parties of
Hong Lan and requesting for the execution of the indemnity. Due to the effect of COVID-19 causing the difficulty of traveling,
investigation and negotiation in Hangzhou China the business area of the related parties, the Group is still discussing about
any potential effective action plan regarding to the legal actions or the execution of indemnity. In addition, after continuously
reviewing the possibility of receiving other account receivables by Hangzhou Susong, the Group is taking prudent view to make
necessary provision to such other account receivables considering the age and the overall business environment.

Due to the significant decrease of revenue from IT and Distribution Business of which the performance has been falling short
of our expectation as originally contemplated at the time of acquisition of such business in 2016, and facing increasingly
challenging and uncertain business environment, the Company will continue to negotiate with potential buyers in relation to
potential disposal of entire equity interest in Stage Charm Limited (the holding company of IT and Distribution Business).

GREAT WALL BELT & ROAD HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 05



BUSINESS REVIEW

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND TOURISM BUSINESS

During the year under review, the construction plan for the characteristic town in Wusu city has been delayed due to safety
consideration arising from an oil and gas transportation pipeline that was found under the originally planned construction land
of Wusu characteristic town. Though the new construction land is under planning and discussion status, we expect that the
characteristic town project in Wusu city will not generate investment returns to the Group in the short term.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 13 May 2020, the Company has entered into the legally binding
sales and purchase agreement with an independent third party in relation to potential disposal of entire equity interest in B&R
Investment Holding Limited, which in turn holds 25% equity interest in a PRC company engaging in the development of the
aforesaid characteristic town project. The potential disposal constitutes a major transaction of the Company and is subject to its
shareholders’ approval. We believe the potential disposal is an opportunity to enable the Group’s capital resources to be utilised
more efficiently to support the Group’s operation and business plan.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, facing the increasing uncertainties arising from the outbreak of COVID-19 that severely impacts the global
economy, and the ongoing uncertainties arising from US-China trade tensions that adversely affects economic environment
and confidence, the Group will carry on its journey in finding a delicate balance in deploying its resources between maintaining
the sustainability and relevance of the Telecom Business in the competitive market, and diversifying its business portfolio
by engaging in new business opportunities arising from the Belt and Road Initiative as well as other potential investment
opportunities. Moreover, the Group also believes that there would still be potential business opportunities in the industries of
new emerging technology and information technology during the period of economic downturn due to COVID-19 in the future.

Through actively pursuing other investment opportunities to improve business performance, increasing operational efficiency

and realising business synergy, it is expected that sustainable and steady business growth can be achieved and a more promising
return can be offered to the Group and its shareholders as a whole.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

TURNOVER AND RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately HK$79.2 million, representing an increase of 16.6%
compared to the prior year, mainly due to the increase in revenue from the Telecom Business.

The overall gross margin of the Group for the Year was 17.0%, compared to 45.3% for the prior year. The gross profit for the
Year decreased by 56.2% to approximately HK$13.5 million, compared to approximately HK$30.8 million for the previous year.
The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the decline in revenue contribution of the IT and Distribution Business in 2019. In
addition, the Group expanded wholesale voice telecommunications segment of the Telecom Business in 2019 which has lower
gross margin. The change in business mix resulted in lower gross margin in 2019.

Total operating expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately HK$56.1 million, compared to approximately
HK$81.9 million in the previous year. The decrease was mainly due to lower staff costs and selling and distribution expenses
after the streamline of business portfolio of the Telecom Business, rental deduction after the termination of an office lease in
September 2018.

The Group recorded unrealised net loss on fair value changes and a net loss on disposal and fair value changes of approximately
HK$54.5 million and approximately HK$60.6 million respectively (2018: approximately HK$54.4 million of unrealised net gain
on fair value changes and approximately HK$17.8 million of net gain on disposal and fair value changes) in respect of financial
assets at FVPL in 2019. The unrealised net loss on fair value changes was mainly due to significant drop of fair value in SingAsia
Shares in 2019.

The Group has appointed independent professional valuer to perform an appraisal of the values in use of Hangzhou Susong as
at 31 December 2019. As a result of downward adjustment on the financial forecast, the Group recorded an impairment loss on
goodwill and intangible assets of approximately HK$7.3 million and HK$32.4 million respectively (2018: approximately HK$5.1
million and nil).

The operating loss of the Group amounted to approximately HK$40.8 million, as compared to a loss of approximately HK$46.8
million for the previous year.

Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company amounted to approximately HK$219.0 million, as compared to a loss of
approximately HK$11.7 million for the previous year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

CIRCUMSTANCES LEADING TO THE IMPAIRMENT LOSS OF HANGZHOU SUSONG

Total revenue of Hangzhou Susong in 2019 decreased by 80.7% compared to 2018, mainly due to that no revenue was
generated from distribution business segment during the year.

In light of the declining revenue and challenging business environment in the IT and Distribution Business, the Group anticipated
a lower financial forecast in the IT and Distribution Business, resulting in the recognition of impairment loss on goodwill and
intangible assets of approximately HK$7.3 million and HK$32.4 million respectively in 2019.

The table below sets out the valuation method, major assumptions and details of the value of inputs used in the valuation for
determining the impairment made in 2018 and 2019 respectively:

Valuation in relation to Valuation in relation to
the 2019 Impairment the 2018 Impairment
Valuation date 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Valuation methodology Discounted cash flow, Discounted cash flow,
income approach income approach
Major assumptions Revenue growth Revenue growth

e Average growth rate of —1% from 2020 Average growth rate of 5% from
to 2024 2019 to 2023

e Average growth rate of 0% for IT Average growth rate of —2% for IT

Business from 2020 to 2024 Business from 2019 to 2023

e Average growth rate of 2% for e Average growth rate of 14% for
distribution business from 2020 to 2024 distribution business from 2019

to 2023

Gross margins Gross margins

Range from 73% to 74% during the Range from 82% to 90% during the forecast
forecast period between 2020 to 2024 period between 2019 and 2023

Corporate tax rate Corporate tax rate

25% 25%

Terminal growth Terminal growth

2% 2%

Discount rate (pre-tax) 23% 31%
23% for IT Business 33% for IT Business
23% for distribution business 30% for distribution business

08 GREAT WALL BELT & ROAD HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019



FINANCIAL REVIEW

REASONS FOR THE CHANGE IN ASSUMPTIONS USED IN THE VALUATION FOR
THE 2019 IMPAIRMENT AS COMPARED WITH THE ASSUMPTIONS USED IN THE
VALUATION FOR THE 2018 IMPAIRMENT

. FINANCIAL FORECAST
Hangzhou Susong has two revenue sources, namely, IT Business and distribution business. The income from distribution
business declined significantly during the year as a result of unstable global economy and weakened consumption
market. Meanwhile, the income from IT Business also declined which facing a competitive market. The management
of Hangzhou Susong considers revenue from IT and Distribution Business could not meet the expected revenue in the
previous forecast. Therefore, the management decides to further lower the financial forecast for IT and Distribution
Business for the 2019 Impairment.

(). DISCOUNT RATE
The discount rates applied were estimated based on the same methodology as in the previous year. The difference
between the adopted discount rates in 2018 and 2019 was mainly due to the change in the adopted market
parameters including debt-to-equity ratios, risk-free rates and cost of debt. The adopted debt-to-equity ratios made
reference to listed comparable companies’ trading data, while the adopted risk-free rates and cost of debt made
reference to market information in China where Hangzhou Susong operates.

Pre-tax discount rate has a positive relation with the expected amount of tax expenses. In light of the change in outlook
of business, the tax expenses of Hangzhou Susong are expected to be much lower than those expected in the financial
forecast in the previous year. Therefore, the pre-tax discount rate in 2019 is significant lower than that in 2018.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCING

As at 31 December 2019, the net assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$1.9 million compared to approximately
HK$228.7 million as at 31 December 2018. The net assets decreased significantly in 2019 mainly due to the decrease in value
of financial assets at FVPL and recognition of impairment loss on other receivables, goodwill and intangible assets.

Capital expenditures for the year amounted to approximately HK$0.1 million, compared to approximately HK$62.7 million in
2018.

Bank balances and cash (excluding pledged bank deposits) amounted to approximately HK$6.7 million as at 31 December 2019
(2018: approximately HK$13.9 million). On the same date, total pledged bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$0.7
million (2018: approximately HK$0.9 million). Bank guarantees of approximately HK$0.7 million (2018: approximately HK$0.8
million) were issued to suppliers for operation requirements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had loan from directors of approximately HK$2.8 million (2018: Nil). As at 31 December
2019, the Group had lease liabilities amounted to approximately HK$3.1 million (2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's gearing ratio, measured on the basis of total borrowings as a percentage of net assets
was 310.3% (2018: 0.1%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has certain assets, liabilities, and transactions which are denominated in Singapore dollars and Renminbi. The Group
continues to closely monitor the exchange rates of each of Singapore dollar, Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi and will, whenever
appropriate, take appropriate action to mitigate such exchange risks. As at 31 December 2019, no related currency hedges had
been undertaken by the Group.

GREAT WALL BELT & ROAD HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019 09



FINANCIAL REVIEW

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

In April 2018, the Group entered into an agreement with a third party to develop and operate a characteristic cultural town in
Yibin City of Sichuan Province in the PRC. In April 2018, Yibin Xianyuan Lake Small Towns Cultural Tourism Company Limited*
(EEWE#/ NEXRABR A R]) was incorporated in the PRC with registered capital of RMB200,000,000, for which Group has
committed to contribute RMB70,000,000 before 3 April 2028, representing equity interest in 35% of Yibin Company. As at the
end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report, no contribution has been made by the Group.

Other than the above, there were no material contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2019.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND PERFORMANCE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held for trading investments in securities in Hong Kong (collectively, the "Investments”)
with a market value of approximately HK$1.4 million (31 December 2018: approximately HK$129.8 million), representing an
investment portfolio of five (31 December 2018: five) listed equities in Hong Kong. The Group recorded unrealised net loss
on fair values changes and a net loss on disposal and fair value changes of approximately HK$54.5 million and approximately
HK$60.6 million respectively (2018: approximately HK$54.4 million of unrealised net gain on fair value changes and
approximately HK$17.8 million of net gain on disposal and fair value changes) in respect of financial assets at FVPL in 2019. The
significant decrease in fair value for those held as at 31 December 2019 was mainly due to the decrease in the stock price of the
shares of SingAsia Holdings Limited (“SingAsia Share”) in 2019. The details of the Investments as at 31 December 2019 were as
follows:

Unrealised
% of loss on Fair value Fair value
shareholdings  Realised loss fair value as at as at
Stock  Number of inequity  on disposal change 1 January 31 December % of
Company name code  sharesheld  investment  forthe year  for the year 2019 2019 net assets Principal activities

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

1 New Provenance 02326 1,000,000 0.01% - (13) 30 17 0.90% Sourcing and sale of metal
Everlasting Holdings minerals and related industrial
Limited materials, production and sale of

industrial products and utilities,
sale of electrical and electronic
consumer products, and provision
of logistics services

2 SingAsia Holdings 08293 8,500,000 0.57% (60,593) (53,057) 127,386 494 26.00%  Provide manpower outsourcing
Limited services, manpower recruitment
services and manpower training

services based in Singapore

3 China Saite Group 00153 5,040,000 0.17% - (1,069 1,865 796 41.92%  Construction of steel structure
Company Limited and prefabricated construction
projects
4 Haitian Energy 01659 2,576,000 0.03% - (340) 340 - 0.00% Hydropower generation and
International Limited provision of power operation,

repair and maintenance services

5 Sino Harbour Holdings 01663 1,000,000 0.04% - (44) 185 14 7.42% Property development and car
Group Limited parking spaces operation

(60,593) (54,523) 129,806 1,448

During the Year, the Group had not received dividend from the Investments held (2018: Nil).

The Board acknowledges that the performance of the equities may be affected by the degree of volatility in the Hong Kong
stock market and are susceptible to other external factors that may affect their values. Accordingly, in order to mitigate possible
financial risks related to the equities, the Board maintains a diversified investment portfolio across various segments of the
market and also closely monitors the performance of its investment portfolio.

10 GREAT WALL BELT & ROAD HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHAO Ruiyong, aged 65, was appointed as an executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of the Company
on 1 November 2017. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Zhao is a Chinese national first-class writer. He has deep understanding and extensive resources in the film
and television industry and other cultural industries, and has rich experience in corporate strategy and development, investment
and acquisition. He was the chairman of the board of directors of Great Wall Movie and Television Co., Ltd.* (R FERHE
[R27]) (the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002071)) from May 2014 to November
2015, and the chairman of the board of directors of Hangzhou Tian-Mu-Shan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (#10K B 1L B2 R%
B EBR7AT]) (the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600671)) from November 2015
to May 2018. He was also previously the station director of Zhuji Television Station* (2B EIRE) , the director and the chief
editor of “East Sea*”( (& &) ) magazine, the director and the chief editor of “Children’s Stories*”( (V> FEREHER) )
newspaper, and the director of Zhejiang Film and Television Production Institute* (/T 8242 BIEFT) . Since September 2014,
he has been the chairman of the board of directors of Great Wall International ACG Co., Ltd.* (&I BIE 82 BB (D AR A
A]) (the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000835)). He is also currently the chairman
of the board of directors of Zhejiang Qingpingguo Network Technology Co. Ltd.* GHT HHERMERI AR AT), the
executive director and the general manager of Hangzhou Great Wall Animation Game Co. Ltd.* (fuN & B2 ERIE R A
A]) , the director of China Television Artists Association* ( FEIER K E ) , a member of China Writers Association* ( F2 B {E
RIHE ), the vice president of Zhejiang Television Artists Association* (#7/TE BRE % E ), and a member of the presidium
of Zhejiang Writers Association* (HTEERIHE) .

LI Bing, aged 32, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 1 September 2017 and the chief executive officer
of the Company on 1 November 2017. She is also a director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Li graduated from
Chengdu University of Technology* ( Ak #F¥E T A2 ) with a Bachelor of Arts degree. She has extensive experience in the areas
of private equity, mergers and acquisitions and reorganisations. She has participated in several large-scale acquisitions and
investment projects in the cultural tourism and China Big Health industries, and involved in the establishment and management
of several industrial investment funds. Since 2016, she has been involved in the integration of the industrial ecological chain of
the film and television, animation, games, China Big Health, advertising and tourism industries. Since December 2018, she has
been a director of Great Wall International ACG Co., Ltd.* (KM B & 2B M AR A E]) (the shares of which are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000835)). She is also currently a director of Great Wall Belt & Road (HK) Limited,
the executive director and the general manager of Hangzhou Bingo Investment Management Co. Ltd.* (i BRIEEEEHR
[R/27]) , the executive director and the manager of Xishuang Banna Great Wall Tourism & Cultural Creativity Park Limited* (7
RN R R SCEIE AR /AT ) |, and the representative of the managing partner of Zhuiji Great Wall Yingda Silk Road Equity
Investment LLP* (FEZB R A KMHAZ BERERESGZ L (BRAE®) ), Zhuji Changrong Equity Investment LLP* (FEZ &
MR ES B (BRA%) ) and Zhuji Changgi Equity Investment LLP* (EREREREAELE (AREE) ).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHEUNG Ka Heng Frankie, aged 47, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 1 September 2017 and the
vice-chairman of the board of directors of the Company on 1 November 2017. He is also a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Cheung holds a Master of Business Administration degree and has completed the “Global Executive Program”
in Guanghua School of Management, Peking University. From June 2002 to December 2015, He was an executive director of
Sau San Tong Holdings Limited (the issued shares of which are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock Code: 8200)) which engages in the retail and the beauty and slimming industries. From October 2009 to November
2010, he was an executive director of Chevalier Pacific Holdings Limited (now known as Dingyi Group Investment Limited) (the
issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 508)) and was
mainly responsible for mergers and acquisitions. He was also previously a director of a credit data provider which engages in
the compilation and assortment of credit data and acts as the external independent databank operational unit for its banking
institutions clients in Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung has accumulated over 15 years of experience in corporate finance and wealth
management. With his credit facilities background and the experience accumulated throughout the years, he has architected
a vast channel for deal flow in the Greater China region. In the past, he had completed various fund-raising transactions for
various enterprises across the Greater China region, including project planning, debt financing and securities margin financing,
and had successfully spearheaded the initial establishment of corporate units of corporate finance and wealth management
in Shanghai and Taiwan. He also possesses extensive experience in overseas investment and financing. In recent years, he had
assisted a British private equity fund in establishing operating divisions and developing investment and financing business in
Hong Kong and the Middle East and Central Asia markets. Besides, Mr. Cheung is an Honorary Committee Member of China
Enterprise Reputation and Credibility Association (Overseas).

CHEUNG Siu Fai, aged 50, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 20 February 2020. Mr. Cheung holds
a Master Degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Electronic
Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Cheung is a Certified Financial Analyst. Mr. Cheung founded
Hammer Capital Group Limited and is a director of Hammer Capital Asset Management Limited. Prior to founding Hammer
Capital Group Limited, he was the Head of Asia Pacific of the Strategic Equity Solutions of Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited
("Merrill Lynch™). Prior to his position at Merrill Lynch, he was the Head of Asia Pacific of the Strategic Equity Solutions and the
Managing Director of the Structured Products of Asia of Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited. He has also held key positions
in various major investment banks in Asia Pacific like Calyon Corporate & Investment Bank (presently known as Crédit Agricole
Corporate & Investment Bank) and JPMorgan Chase & Co.. Mr. Cheung was an executive director of Asia Coal Limited, the
shares of which were delisted from the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 June 2019. He is also
currently a director of Great Wall Belt & Road (HK) Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHAO Guangming, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 16 August 2017.
He is also a member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Zhao completed the researcher course in management engineering in Zhejiang University in 1997. He holds the
qualification of Senior Professional Manager of Engineering Construction of China* (FFE TI2 2% & A B4R A ) from
China Association of Construction Enterprise Management* ( Bl T (b3 & 1€ ) , the qualification of senior economist
from Zhejiang Office of Personnel* (#’ T4 A EE) and the qualification of First Class Constructor* ( —#& 2 i&RM) from The
Ministry of Construction and Development of The People’s Republic of China* ( #f#E A B H 1B # 5% 26) . He was the general
manager of Zhejiang Zhuji Fifth Construction Works Company* (T TA#EMERAELTIE/AF)) from 1987 to 2000,
then served as the chairman of the board of directors of Zhejiang Jiyang Construction Group Company Limited* (77T 2[5
ZREB AR AA) from 2000 to 2015. Mr. Zhao was also previously the council member of Zhejiang Construction Industry
Association* (T TEEELEWE ) |, the vice president of Zhuiji Construction Industry Association* (BT EEEHE ) and the
senior researcher of the Real Estate Research Centre of Zhejiang University* (31T KB FEHER TR L) .
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HUANG Tao, aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 1 November 2017.
He is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Huang graduated from Peking University with a master’s degree in finance. He has over 15
years of experience in venture capital investment and corporate finance, and has extensive resources in venture capital area and
capital market. He is currently the managing partner of Shenzhen Junyi Capital Management LLP* CRIITTEA R E A BB
(BBRA%E) ), and has leaded and completed over 10 merger and acquisition projects of listed companies since 2014. He was
an investment director of a well-known venture capital company in China from 2007 to 2014, and directed and participated in
the management of the investment funds in areas of Internet, environmental protection, agriculture and so on. He also served
for a private investment organisation in China from 2002 to 2007.

FONG Wai Ho, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 20 February 2020. He is
also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Fong has over 15 years of experience in auditing and business
advisory services. He is the founder and has been a practitioner of UBC & Co., Certified Public Accountants since March
2013. Mr. Fong was the practicing director of Andes Glacier CPA Limited from March 2017 to March 2020. Mr. Fong holds a
bachelor’s degree in business administration (honours) in accountancy and management information systems awarded by City
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Fong is a practicing Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, a member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants as well as a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a
member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia and the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada,
respectively, as well as a member of CPA Australia. Mr. Fong is currently an independent non-executive director of Global
Sweeteners Holdings Limited (stock code: 3889) and Perennial Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 2798) respectively, the
issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

LEUNG Wai Kei, aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 20 February 2020. Mr.
Leung has extensive experience and expertise in financial services ranging from investment banking, derivatives trading, asset
management and securities brokerage, and he has served in various financial institutions including Nomura International (Hong
Kong) Limited, Lehman Brothers Asia Limited, Rabobank International and Calyon Corporate & Investment Bank. Mr. Leung is
the founder and chief executive officer of China Securities Limited which provides securities brokerage services. He is currently
an independent non-executive director of GTI Holdings Limited (the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 3344)). Mr. Leung holds a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
(Finance & Information Systems) from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He has also passed the Level 3
examination of Chartered Financial Analyst Programme.

LAM Chik Shun Marcus, aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 20 February
2020. Mr. Lam is currently an executive director and the chief strategy officer of Perennial Energy Holdings Limited (the issued
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 2798), of which he
works closely with the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer as well as the Board to develop corporate strategies and to
guide the business through detailed strategic planning procedures. He also focuses on strengthening Perennial Energy Holdings
Limited’s core competency and identifying future growth organically and externally. Mr. Lam has over 19 years of experience
working in the finance industry, focusing on financial management and investment. Mr. Lam holds a bachelor’s degree in
commerce awarded by the University of British Columbia and a master degree in business administration awarded by Warwick
Business School. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst charter holder.

* for identification purpose only
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INTRODUCTION

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in performing their obligations to act in the best interests of shareholders and enhance long-term shareholder
value. Except for the non-compliance and deviations described below, the Directors are not aware of any information which
would reasonably indicate that the Company is not, or was not at any time during the year ended 31 December 2019, acting
in compliance with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the “Corporate Governance Code"”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, management should provide all members of the Board
with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects
in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules. From January to June 2019, the management of the Company did not provide monthly management
accounts of the Group’s subsidiaries to the Directors. Since July 2019, the management of the Company has provided monthly
updates on the Group's performance, position and prospects and tried its best endeavors to provide management accounts of
the Group's subsidiaries to the Directors.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) should
attend the annual general meetings of the Company and should also invite the chairman of each of the audit, remuneration,
nomination and any other committees of the Company to attend. Mr. Zhao Ruiyong, the chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”), and Mr. Huang Tao, the chairman of
the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”), did not attend the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 28 June 2019 (“2019 AGM") as they were not in Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung Ka Heng Frankie, the vice-
chairman of Board (the "Vice-Chairman”) and the then member of the Remuneration Committee, as well as Mr. Fung Wai
Shing, the then member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, attended 2019 AGM and were
available to answer questions at the 2019 AGM.

INSUFFICIENT NUMBER OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Board must include at least three independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. Pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
Committee”) must comprise a minimum of three members and at least one of the members of the Audit Committee is an
independent non-executive Director with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules; and the Audit Committee must be chaired by an independent non-
executive Director. Immediately after the resignation of Mr. Fung Wai Shing as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Audit Committee on 20 December 2019, the Company fell below the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.21
of the Listing Rules. The Company had made its best endeavours to identify suitable candidates to be additional independent
non-executive Director(s) in order to comply with the Listing Rules. On 20 February 2020, Mr. Fong Wai Ho, who possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee;
Mr. Leung Wai Kei and Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus were appointed as independent non-executive Directors. Following these
appointments, the Company has fully complied with the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ transactions in securities of the Company.
All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have fully complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Ruiyong (Chairman), Ms. Li
Bing (Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Cheung Ka Heng Frankie (Vice-Chairman) and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, and five independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Guangming, Mr. Huang Tao, Mr. Fong Wai Ho, Mr. Leung Wai Kei and Mr. Lam Chik Shun
Marcus. Biographical details of the Directors as of the date of this annual report are set out in the section headed “Board of
Directors” on pages 11 to 13 of this annual report.

Both Ms. Li Bing, an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”),
and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, an executive Director, are currently the directors of Great Wall Belt & Road (HK) Limited, which is
wholly-owned by Great Wall Film & Culture Company Group Limited* (R A XL D EEB AR A A]) (“Great Wall
Group”). Great Wall Group is in turn owned as to 66.67% by Mr. Zhao Ruiyong, the Chairman and an executive Director.
Except for the above, there is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships)
among the Directors.

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws"”), not less than one-third of the Directors for the time being
will retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years at each annual general meeting. Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) to set out the approach to achieve diversity for
the Board since 2013. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company recognises the benefits of a Board that possesses
a balance of skills, expertise, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of
the Group; the Company embraces the practice of seeking to ensure diversity of Board members, which can be achieved
through consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; Board appointments will continue to be on a merit basis,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board; the
Nomination Committee continues to be responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; the Board will review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to
ensure its continued effectiveness; and the Board will disclose the Board Diversity Policy (or a summary thereof) in the corporate
governance report set out in the annual reports of the Company.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly and on those occasions when Board decisions are required for major issues. All Directors are provided
with adequate and timely information prior to Board meetings to ensure that the Directors can make informed decisions when
fulfilling their responsibilities. (All meeting minutes and written resolutions of the Board and its committees are kept by the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), and such records are available for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director.)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board held 11 meetings. The attendance of each Director at Board meetings and
general meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below.

Attendance/number of
meetings held

Board General
Name of director meeting* meeting
Zhao Ruiyong 4/11 0/1
Li Bing 5/11 0/1
Cheung Ka Heng Frankie 11/11 11
Cheung Siu Fai (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A N/A
Zhao Guangming 11/11 0/1
Huang Tao 10/11 0/1
Fong Wai Ho (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A N/A
Leung Wai Kei (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A N/A
Lam Chik Shun Marcus (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A N/A
Fung Wai Shing (resigned with effect from 20 December 2019) 10/11 11
Chan Chi Yuen (resigned with effect from 18 October 2019) 8/8 171

Including written resolutions, physical meetings and meetings held by telephone conference

On those occasions where it was not practical to convene physical meetings, in lieu thereof, written resolutions of the Board
together with full copies of related documents were circulated to all Directors for consideration and approval. During the year
under review, all such written resolutions were approved by all Directors.

BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is collectively responsible for all businesses and affairs of the Company. The Board has delegated authority to various
committees to deal with specific matters under defined terms of reference. Details of the Board committees are set out in the
section headed “Board Committees” on pages 18 to 20 of this annual report. The Board has also delegated the day-to-day
management of the Company’s businesses to executive Directors and senior management members while reserving certain
key matters, mainly laying down strategies, reviewing policies, monitoring operational and financial performance and ensuring
effective governance and sound internal control and risk management systems.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Directors are provided with induction training immediately after appointment to ensure that they have
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules, the Corporate Governance Code and other applicable regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place in respect of providing continuing professional development to Directors in order to
facilitate the performance of their duties. The Company Secretary distributes various reading materials to Directors from time to
time to update them on amendments to the relevant laws, rules and regulations to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Directors are also encouraged to participate in external trainings at the Company's expense. All Directors are required
to provide the Company annually with their training records. According to the training records maintained by the Company, the
trainings received by each of the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 is summarised as below.

Regulatory updates or
corporate governance

Name of director related materials
Zhao Ruiyong v/
Li Bing v
Cheung Ka Heng Frankie v
Cheung Siu Fai (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A
Zhao Guangming v/
Huang Tao v/
Fong Wai Ho (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A
Leung Wai Kei (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A
Lam Chik Shun Marcus (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
There is a clear segregation between the roles of chairman and chief executive of the Company. The duties of chairman and
chief executive are carried out respectively by Mr. Zhao Ruiyong as the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Ka Heng Frankie as the Vice-
Chairman and Ms. Li Bing as the Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman are responsible for providing
leadership to the Board and monitoring Board effectiveness and shareholder communications. The Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for the overall management of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are highly skilled professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience in the
fields of accounting, finance and business. Their skills, expertise and number in the Board ensure that strong independent views
and judgment are brought in the Board’s deliberations and that such views and judgment carry weight in the Board's decision-
making process. Their presence and participation also enable the Board to maintain high standards of compliance in financial
and other mandatory reporting requirements, and provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its shareholders.

Each of Mr. Zhao Guangming and Mr. Huang Tao, independent non-executive Directors, has entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a specific term of 2 years subject to the retirement and re-election provisions of the Bye-laws, which can
be terminated with not less than three months” written notice. Each of Mr. Fong Wai Ho, Mr. Leung Wai Kei and Mr. Lam Chik
Shun Marcus, independent non-executive Directors, has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a specific
term of 3 years subject to the retirement and re-election provisions of the Bye-laws, which can be terminated with not less than
one month’s written notice.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, and has delegated various responsibilities to those committees. The committees perform their distinct roles in
accordance with their respective terms of reference which are available on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company (www.gwbrhk.com).

All committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 29 September 1999 and comprised of all independent non-executive Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2019. As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fong Wai Ho, Mr. Zhao Guangming and Mr. Huang Tao. Mr. Fong Wai Ho, who has the
appropriate financial-related professional qualification and experience, is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The principal role of the Audit Committee is to review the effectiveness of the financial reporting practices, the quality and
integrity of the financial reports, the internal control and risk management systems and the audit functions of the Company;
and to review the nature and scope of the external audit and internal audit of the Company, the results of their examinations
as well as their evaluations on the internal control and risk management systems. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
nominating external auditors and approving their audit fees and is granted the authority to investigate any activities within
its terms of reference. There is no disagreement between the Directors and the Audit Committee regarding the selection and
appointment of the external auditor of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings and discharged its responsibilities to review
the interim and annual results with the presence of the external auditor of the Company, in particular, assessing any changes in
accounting policies and practices, major judgmental areas and compliance with applicable legal and accounting requirements
and standards; to review the internal control and risk management systems; and to approve the audit fees of the external
auditor of the Company.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee at the committee meetings held during the year ended 31 December
2019 is set out below.

Attendance/number of
Audit Committee

Name of director meetings* held

Fong Wai Ho (appointed as the committee chairman with effect from 20 February 2020) N/A

Zhao Guangming 3/3

Huang Tao 3/3

Fung Wai Shing (resigned with effect from 20 December 2019) 3/3
# Including written resolutions, physical meetings and meetings held by telephone conference
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 18 December 2001 and comprised of a majority of independent non-
executive Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019. As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprised two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Huang Tao and Mr. Zhao Guangming, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Zhao Ruiyong. Mr. Huang Tao is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining a mechanism for setting the Group’s remuneration structure with
reference to fair and objective standards, determining and reviewing the remuneration of Directors and addressing and dealing
with such other matters relating to remuneration as directed by the Board from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors for the year ending 31 December 2020.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee at the committee meeting held during the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out below.

Attendance/number of
Remuneration Committee

Name of director meetings* held

Huang Tao m”m

Zhao Ruiyong 171

Zhao Guangming 1”7

Cheung Ka Heng Frankie (ceased to be a committee member with effect from 20 December 2019) N/A

Fung Wai Shing (resigned with effect from 20 December 2019) N/A
# Including written resolutions, physical meetings and meetings held by telephone conference
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 9 December 2011 and comprised of a majority of independent non-executive
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019. As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprised
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Guangming and Mr. Huang Tao, and one executive Director, namely
Mr. Zhao Ruiyong. Mr. Zhao Ruiyong, the chairman of the Board, is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying, recruiting and evaluating new nominees to the Board; reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, including the skills, knowledge, experience of Directors and the time devoted by
Directors in fulfilling their responsibilities; assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors; together with
addressing and dealing with such other matters relating to nominations as directed by the Board from time to time.

The Nomination Committee leads the process and makes recommendations for appointments to the Board. In evaluating and
selecting candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee considers the candidates’ character and integrity, skill and
expertise, professional and educational background and potential time commitment as well as other statutory or regulatory
requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board. Information relating to the policy on Board diversity is set out in the section headed “Board Diversity
Policy” on page 15 of this annual report.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee at the committee meeting held during the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out below.

Attendance/number of
Nomination Committee

Name of director meetings* held

Zhao Ruiyong 171

Zhao Guangming 171

Huang Tao 171

Li Bing (ceased to be a committee member with effect from 20 December 2019) N/A

Fung Wai Shing (resigned with effect from 20 December 2019) N/A
# Including written resolutions, physical meetings and meetings held by telephone conference

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties including to (a) develop and review the Company'’s policies
and practices on corporate governance; (b) review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; (c) review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (d) develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; and (e)
review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report
under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The corporate governance policy is formulated with an emphasis on the Board’s quality, effective internal control, stringent
disclosure practices and transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the Company. The Board strives to comply with
the code provisions and reviews its corporate governance policy regularly in order to maintain high standards of business ethics
and corporate governance, and to ensure the full compliance of our operations with applicable laws and regulations.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The senior management’s remuneration of the Group (being the executive directors of the Company) for the year ended 31
December 2019 falls within the following bands:

Number of individuals

HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000 4

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration payable to the auditors of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$2,335,400 of which approximately HK$2,065,000 related to audit services, approximately HK$270,400 related to non-audit
services (which included approximately HK$145,000 related to agreed upon procedures in connection with 2019 interim report,
approximately HK$100,000 related to risk management and internal control systems advisory services, and approximately
HK$25,400 related to tax compliance and advisory services).

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group that
give a true and fair view in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement by the auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 33 to 38 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Law Hoi Ching, the Company Secretary, is an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company's
affairs. Mr. Law has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
31 December 2019.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists, deposited at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong, Suite 1402, 14/F, Henley Building, No.5 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong,
and marked for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in like form each
signed by one or more requisitionists.

The requisition will be verified by the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong and upon its
confirmation that the written requisition is proper and in order, the Board shall convene and hold such a special general meeting
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days from the date of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves do so in accordance with Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the said date.
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SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the Board by
addressing them to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, Suite
1402, 14/F, Henley Building, No.5 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong, and the Company Secretary shall forward such
written enquiries and concerns received to the Board for further handling.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS
Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, it shall be the duty of the Company, on the requisition
in writing of such number "’ of shareholders, at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves,

(a

(b)

to give to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting notice of any
resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and

to circulate to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice of any general meeting any statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.

The Company will not give notice of any such resolution or to circulate any such statement unless:

(a

(b)

a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, or two or more copies which between them contain the signatures
of all the requisitionists, is deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, Suite 1402, 14/F,
Henley Building, No.5 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong, and marked for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary, and (i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks "t ?
before the meeting; and (ii) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting; and

there is deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
giving effect thereto.

The requisition will be verified by the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong.

Note 1

Note 2

The number of shareholders necessary for a requisition shall be (a) either any number of shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which
the requisition relates, or (b) not less than one hundred shareholders.

If, after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered office of the company, an annual
general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the constitutional documents of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining the Group's internal control systems and risk management and reviewing
their effectiveness. The internal control systems of the Group are designed to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatements or losses, to manage the risks of system failures, and to assist in the achievement of the Group’s goals. The
systems are also structured to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records, adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff for the Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions and
compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, as well as risk management functions. The Company has also appointed
an independent internal auditor to review the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system of the Group for
the year. Main features of the risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.
o Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.
o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective communication to the Board and on-going monitor the

residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2019, other than non-compliance with the Listing Rules disclosed in above
“Introduction” sub-section of this Corporate Governance Report, no significant risk was identified.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follow:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group's objectives,
forming a basis for determining how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to help ensure that management directives to mitigate
risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and procedures.
Certain reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

The Company has engaged internal control consultants to conduct a review on the internal control system of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019. Due to the impact of the recent outbreak of COVID-19 on the work arrangement, the conduct
of the internal control review works has been delayed and the internal control review has not been completed as of the date of
this report. It is expected that such internal control review will be completed in or around June 2020. The Company will inform
the shareholders and potential investors of the Company by way of further announcements if any material deficiency in the
Group's internal control system is identified upon the completion of the internal control review.

INTERNAL AUDIT

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not have an internal audit function but had appointed external
consultants to review the risk management and internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of
operating effectiveness.

A review of the risk management and internal control systems is conducted at least annually and the results are reported to the
Board via the Audit Committee afterwards.

The Board considers that it is a continuous process for the Group to review and improve its risk management and internal
control systems in order to ensure that they can meet with the dynamic and ever-changing business environment and regulatory
framework. A review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems is conducted annually by
the Audit Committee. Several areas have been considered during the reviews, which include but not limited to (i) the changes
in the nature and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group's ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment (i) the scope and quality of management’'s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems. As part of an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing material risks faced by the
Group, the Company conducts regular reviews of material business processes and procedures in the Group’s operations. The
Board considers that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are reasonably implemented. Nevertheless, the
Group will continue the process of reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems, focusing
on specific business processes.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$225,172,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. At 31 December
2019, the current liabilities of the Group exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$56,766,000. The Group maintained
bank balances and cash of approximately HK$6,672,000 as at 31 December 2019.
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These conditions indicate the existence of uncertainty that might cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern and, therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business. The Group is taking the following steps to ensure continuous operations of the Group:

(a) Group entered into loan agreements with the Directors during the year with aggregate amount of HK$41,700,000 to
mitigate the liquidity and financial pressure and to improve the Group's financial position. Such loans are on normal
commercial terms or better, interest-free with no pledge of assets or guarantee provided by the Group, which constitute
a fully exempt connected transaction of the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2019,
total amount of borrowing from Directors amounted approximately HK$2,840,000 and therefore, total amount of
borrowings yet to be drawn amounted approximately HK$38,860,000.

(b) On 13 May 2020, the Group has entered into a sales and purchase agreement in relation to the disposal of a subsidiary
for consideration of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$55,000,000). The disposal once completed would possibly
generate net cash inflow of HK$54,892,000 to the Group. Further detailed information of such disposal was disclosed in
the announcement dated 13 May 2020.

(@) The Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of its borrowing facilities to meet their liquidity
requirements in the short and longer terms.

(d) As at the date of this annual report, the Group has planned and is in negotiation with potential investors to raise funds
through shares placing.

With the aforesaid measures, the Board of Directors of the Company considers it reasonable to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on the assumption of continuous operations. The Board of Directors has conducted thorough evaluation
of the Group’s continuous operation ability by reviewing working capital forecasts for the coming twelve months, and has
reached the conclusion that the Group will be able to acquire enough funding to ensure working capital and expensing needs,
therefore agreed with preparation of the consolidated financial statements on the basis of continuous operations. Should the
Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the value of assets to their
recoverable amounts, and to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify the non-current assets and
liabilities to current assets and liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

*  for identification purpose only
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is pleased to present this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are the provision of
telecommunication and related services, as well as financial payment processing solution and software development services
and distribution business. A list of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as of 31 December 2019 and their particulars are set out
in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out in the sections headed “Financial
Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”, “Business Review"”, “Financial Review” and “Corporate Governance Report” on page
3, page 4, pages 5 to 6, pages 7 to 10 and pages 14 to 25 respectively of this annual report, as well as in the Company’s
Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2019 which will be published on the respective websites of the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) within three months after the publication of this annual
report. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2019 by segment is set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 129 of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate turnover attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 59.2% of the Group’s total turnover, with the largest customer accounting for approximately
33.6% of the Group's total turnover.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 68.3% of the Group’s total purchases, with the largest supplier accounting for approximately
39.7% of the Group's total purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total issued share capital) had any interests in any of the
Group's five largest customers or suppliers mentioned above.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESULTS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on pages
39 to 40 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

The Company has a dividend policy which sets out the principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment and
distribution of the Company’s net profits as dividends to its shareholders. Pursuant to the Company’s dividend policy, in
deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall consider the following
factors: (a) the Group’s actual and expected financial results, (b) the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans, (c) the Group’s liquidity position, (d) contractual restrictions on payment of dividends
by the Group to its shareholders, (e) the general economic conditions and other external factors that may have an impact on
the future business and financial performance of the Group, and (f) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant; the
payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the bye-laws of the Company, the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda and other applicable laws and regulations; and the Board shall review the dividend policy as appropriate
from time to time.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
in note 36(a) to the consolidated financial statements and on page 45 of this annual report respectively.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, there were no reserves available for distribution to shareholders of the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below, no equity-
linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019 or subsisted as at 31 December
2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company'’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company terminated its old share option scheme adopted on 20 May 2015 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) and adopted
a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 June
2018. Details of the terms of the New Share Option Scheme are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

No share options were granted/forfeited/exercised during the year ended 31 December 2019 and there were no share options
outstanding/exercisable as at 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who were in office during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Zhao Ruiyong (Chairman)

Li Bing (Chief Executive Officer)

Cheung Ka Heng Frankie (Vice-Chairman)

Cheung Siu Fai (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020)
Chan Chi Yuen (resigned with effect from 18 October 2019)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Zhao Guangming

Huang Tao

Fong Wai Ho (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020)

Leung Wai Kei (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020)

Lam Chik Shun Marcus (appointed with effect from 20 February 2020)
Fung Wai Shing (resigned with effect from 20 December 2019)

Biographical details of the Directors as of the date of this annual report are set out in the section headed “Board of Directors”
on pages 11 to 13 of this annual report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), and the
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” below, no transaction, arrangement or contract that is
significant in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or a connected entity of a Director had, directly or indirectly, a material interest subsisted at any time during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, the “SFO") as were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or as were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:
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INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

Number of Approximate

Shares* percentage of

Name of director Capacity interested shareholding

Zhao Ruiyong Interest of a controlled corporation 222,820,000 21.22%
(Note 1)

# “Shares” means ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company.

Note 1: The 222,820,000 Shares are beneficially owned by Great Wall Belt & Road (HK) Limited (“Great Wall HK"), which is wholly-owned by
Great Wall Film & Culture Company Group Limited* ( R 512 XL 12 2 £ BB R 2 E]) (“Great Wall Group”). Great Wall Group is in
turn owned as to 66.67% and 33.33% by Mr. Zhao Ruiyong and Mr. Zhao Feifan respectively. Therefore, each of Great Wall Group, Mr.
Zhao Ruiyong and Mr. Zhao Feifan is deemed to be interested in the 222,820,000 Shares held by Great Wall HK pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO.

All interests disclosed above represent long positions in the shares of the Company and there were no underlying shares or
debentures of the Company held by the Directors or the chief executives of the Company as at 31 December 2019.

INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

Amount of
Registered Approximate
Name of associated Capital* percentage of
Name of director corporation Capacity interested shareholding
Zhao Ruiyong Wusu Silk Road Small Towns Interest of a controlled RMB150,000,000 75.00%
Cultural Tourism Company corporation
Limited* (& &k 44 3& /)N B 3R
AFEAF) (“Wusu Company”)
(Note 2)
# “Registered Capital” means the registered capital of Wusu Company in RMB, and Wusu Company has no shares, underlying shares or

debentures.

Note 2: Wusu Company is owned as to 25% and 75% by the Company and Great Wall Group respectively. Great Wall Group is in turn owned
as to 66.67% by Mr. Zhao Ruiyong. Therefore, Wusu Company is an associated corporation of the Company and Mr. Zhao Ruiyong is
deemed to be interested in the registered capital of RMB150,000,000 held by Great Wall Group pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

All interests disclosed above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or the chief executives of the Company had any
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or as were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate at any time during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2019.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the persons, other than the Directors or the chief executives of
the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of Approximate

Shares* percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity interested shareholding
Great Wall HK Beneficial owner 222,820,000 21.22%

(Note 1 above)

Great Wall Group Interest of a controlled corporation 222,820,000 21.22%
(Note 1 above)

Zhao Feifan Interest of a controlled corporation 222,820,000 21.22%
(Note 1 above)

Pang Ming Beneficial owner 65,900,000 6.27%

Tsao Fai Freddy Beneficial owner 61,420,000 5.85%

Wong Hok Man Beneficial owner 53,330,000 5.08%
# “Shares” means ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company.

Note 3: According to the disclosure on the website of the Stock Exchange, Ms. Tam Yuk Ching Jenny has a security interest in 543,500,000
Shares.

All interests disclosed above represent long positions in the shares of the Company.
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no other person, other than the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company, had any interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 35 (2018: 41) employees in China, Hong Kong and Singapore and its total staff costs
for the year ended 31 December 2019 were approximately HK$18.8 million (2018: approximately HK$23.0 million).

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated on the basis of the performance and experience of individual employees and
are in line with local market practices where the Group operates. In addition to salary and bonus payments, the Group also
offers other fringe benefits, including provident fund and medical benefits, to employees. A new share option scheme as set
out in the above section headed “Share Option Scheme” was adopted by the Company on 28 June 2018 as an incentive to
Directors and employees. Directors’ remuneration is decided by the remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. The Group also provides relevant
trainings to its employees in accordance with the skill requirements of different positions.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the Group's retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, each Director or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which he or she shall or may incur or sustain in or about the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in relation
thereto. The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance that provides such indemnities to all
Directors and other officers of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2019.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

DIRECTORS’ LOANS
On 30 August 2019, the Company and certain directors of the Company had entered the following loan agreements:

1. the loan agreement entered into between the Company and Mr. Zhao Ruiyong, pursuant to which Mr. Zhao agreed to
provide a loan in the maximum amount of not exceeding HK$38,000,000 to the Company. The repayment date of the
loan is 31 March 2021. The loan is interest free and the Company is not required to provide any security or guarantee in
respect of the loan;

2. the loan agreement entered into between the Company and Ms. Li Bing, pursuant to which Ms. Li agreed to provide
a loan in the maximum amount of not exceeding HK$500,000 to the Company. The repayment date of the loan is
31 December 2019. The loan is interest free and the Company is not required to provide any security or guarantee in
respect of the loan; and

3. the loan agreement entered into between the Company and Mr. Cheung Ka Heng Frankie, pursuant to which Mr.
Cheung agreed to provide a loan in the maximum amount of not exceeding HK$2,000,000 to the Company. The
repayment date of the loan is 31 December 2019. The loan is interest free and the Company is not required to provide
any security or guarantee in respect of the loan. The maximum amount of the loan was increased to HK$2,500,000
and the repayment date was extended to 31 January 2020 pursuant to a supplemental agreement entered into on
23 December 2019. The maximum loan amount was further increased to HK$3,000,000 pursuant to the second
supplemental agreement entered into on 13 January 2020. Pursuant to the third supplemental agreement entered
into on 17 February 2020, the maximum loan amount was increased to HK$3,200,000 and the repayment date was
extended to 29 February 2020.
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Each of Mr. Zhao Ruiyong, Ms. Li Bing and Mr. Cheung Ka Heng Frankie is an executive director of the Company. Therefore, the
above loans constituted connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the above loans
are conducted on normal commercial terms or better and are not secured by the assets of the Group, pursuant to Rule 14A.90
of the Listing Rules, the above loans are fully exempt from the announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions entered into by the Company and subsisting during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. Such related party transactions do not fall under the definition of
"connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the public as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of environmental, social and governance performance and meeting all
applicable legal requirements in the markets where we operate. This is an important foundation for the Group to engage with
our stakeholders and grow our business responsibly and sustainably. In addition, the Group attaches great importance to the
employee development, environmental protection and supplier management.

Over the years, the Group has made considerable endeavours in reducing waste in the course of its operations. Since 2015,
the Company has participated in the “Wastewi$e Certificate” of the Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification, which is
a recognition scheme established by, among others, the Environmental Protection Department and Environmental Campaign
Committee to encourage Hong Kong businesses and organisations in adopting structured measures to reduce the amount of
waste generated within their establishments or generated through the services and products they provide.

More information about the Group’s environmental, social and governance performance is set out in our Environmental, Social
and Governance Report 2019 which will be published on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange

within three months after the publication of this annual report.

*  for identification purpose only

On behalf of the Board

Zhao Ruiyong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 15 May 2020
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continued)

(B) PAYMENTS TO SEVERAL DEBTORS

During the course of our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, it came
to our attention that bank payments in aggregate of approximately HK$5,090,000 (“Payments”) as recorded in the
other receivables were not substantiated with relevant supporting documents, full loss allowances have been made
during the year. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to ascertain the validity of the recorded
transactions and assess the recoverable amounts of the other receivables as at 31 December 2019. Therefore, we
are unable to satisfy ourselves that these payments were properly accounted for and disclosed or determine whether
any adjustments to the impairment loss recognised during the year ended 31 December 2019 in respect of the other
receivables were necessary, which might have a significant impact on the Group's financial position as at 31 December
2019, and its financial performance and the elements making up the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements" section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on
which the consolidated financial statements have been prepared. The Group experienced a loss of HK$225,172,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2019 and had net current liabilities HK$56,766,000 as at 31 December 2019. These conditions, along
with other matters as set forth in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The directors, having considered the measures
being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the Group would be able to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the year ended 31 December 2019. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” and "Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” sections, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters
to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Interest in associates
Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of interest in  Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of interest
associates amounted to HK$56,079,000, which represented  in associates included:
approximately 70% of the Group’s total assets.

e assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
Interest in associates is initially recorded at cost and adjusted accounting for interest in associates;
thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the Group's share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to e understanding the management’s process for

the investment. As such, the Group is required to assess at the identifying the existence of impairment indicators in

end of each reporting period whether there is any indication respect of the interest in associates and evaluating the

that the carrying amount of interest in associates may be effectiveness of such process; and

impaired. For those associates in which such indication exists,

the Group assessed the carrying amounts for impairment. e where indicators of impairment loss on the interest
in associates have been identified, obtaining an

We identified the recoverability of interest in associates as understanding from the management of their

a key audit matter due to the significance of the Group’s assessment on the recoverable amount of the interest

interest in associates in the context of the Group’s consolidated in associates and evaluating the reasonableness of the

financial statements, combined with the judgements involved in assessment with reference to supporting documents.

management’s impairment assessment of interest in associates,
in particular, the future prospects of each associate.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s 2019 annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. As described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence about the assessment/estimation of loss allowances of trade and other receivables as at 31 December
2019 and the validity of the Payments and the assessment/estimation of loss allowances of the Payments as at 31 December
2019. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information is materially misstated with respect to these
matters.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2019

79,210

(65,719)

15,252

(1,578)
(150)
(34,998)
(19,339)

(40,813)

(4,784)
(31,349)
(94)
(2,517)
(32,393)
(7.341)

(60,593)

(54,523)
(16)
232

195
(119)

(234,115)

8,943

(225,172)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

(219,027)
(6,145)

(225,172)

HK cents

(20.9)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(225,172)

(279)

62
(455)

(1,002)

(220,713)
(6,133)

(226,846)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2019

75,560

3,052

78,612
(56,766)
1,899

1,899
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2019

10,503
(5,488)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2019

10,503 290,303 (4072) (5.223) 25

(467)

- (1,002) -

(64) 83,489 (149,233) 215,225

- 219027)  (219,027)

(219)
62

(467)

(1,002)

225728 3,017 228,745

(219,027) (6145 (225172

(279)
62 - 62

(467) 12 (455)

(1,002) (1,002)

- - (1,407) (279) - - - - (1,686) (1,686) 12 (1,674)
- - (1.407) (279) - - - (219027)  (20713)  (220713) (6133) (226,846

10,503 290,303 (5,479) (5,502) 25
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(64) 83,489 (368,260) (5,488)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(6,218)
(2,047)
161

(7,238)
13,915

(5)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its ordinary shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Company'’s principal place of business is located at Suite 1402, 14/F, Henley Building, No.5 Queen’s Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong. The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal subsidiaries of
the Company and their principal activities are disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong, the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the “HKCQO") and the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2018 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to
the Group and effective from the current year as follows.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
The interpretation supports the requirements in HKAS 12 Income Taxes by specifying how to reflect the effects of
uncertainty in accounting for income taxes.

The adoption of the interpretation does not have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16: Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 and related interpretations for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. It
significantly changes, among others, the lessee accounting by replacing the dual-model under HKAS 17 with a single
model which requires a lessee to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for the rights and obligations created
by all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. For lessor accounting,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues
to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently. HKFRS
16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessees and lessors.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time at 1 January 2019 (i.e.
the date of initial application, the “DIA") using the modified retrospective approach in which comparative information
has not been restated. Instead, the Group recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an
adjustment to the balance of accumulated profits or other component of equity, where appropriate, at the DIA.

The Group elected to use the transition practical expedient not to reassess whether a contract was, or contained, a lease
at the DIA and applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and to
contracts entered into or changed on or after the DIA that identified as leases applying HKFRS 16.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

GOING CONCERN

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the principles applicable to a going
concern basis. The applicability of these principles is dependent upon continued availability of adequate finance or
attaining profitable operations in the future in view of the excess of current liabilities over current assets. The Group
incurred a net loss of approximately HK$225,172,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. At 31 December 2019,
the current liabilities of the Group exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$56,766,000. The Group maintained
bank balances and cash of approximately HK$6,672,000 as at 31 December 2019. These conditions indicate the
existence of uncertainty that might cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and,
therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The
Group is taking the following steps to ensure continuous operations of the Group:

(a) Group entered into loan agreements with the directors during the year with aggregate amount of
HK$41,700,000 to mitigate the liquidity and financial pressure and to improve the Group's financial position.
Such loans are on normal commercial terms or better, interest-free with no pledge of assets or guarantee
provided by the Group, which constitute a fully exempt connected transaction of the Group under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As at 31 December 2019, total amount of borrowing from directors amounted
approximately HK$2,840,000 and therefore, total amount of borrowings yet to be drawn amounted
approximately HK$38,860,000.

(b) On 13 May 2020, the Group has entered into a sales and purchase agreement in relation to the disposal of a
subsidiary for consideration of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$55,000,000). The disposal once completed
would possibly generate net cash inflow of HK$54,892,000 to the Group. Further detailed information of such
disposal was disclosed in the announcement dated 13 May 2020.

(@] The Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of its borrowing facilities to meet their liquidity
requirements in the short and longer terms.

(d) As at the date of this annual report, the Group has planned and is in negotiation with potential investors to raise
funds through shares placing.

With the aforesaid measures, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”) considers it reasonable
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on the assumption of continuous operations. The Board of Directors
has conducted thorough evaluation of the Group’s continuous operation ability by reviewing working capital forecasts
for the coming twelve months, and has reached the conclusion that the Group will be able to acquire enough funding
to ensure working capital and expensing needs, therefore agreed with preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on the basis of continuous operations. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, and to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify the non-current assets and liabilities to current assets and
liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
financial assets at FVPL and Designated FVOCI, which are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries as at
31 December each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that
of the Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from equity holders of the Company, in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within equity in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidation, are
measured initially either at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each components of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the equity holders of the Company and the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interests

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in “capital reserve”
within equity and attributed to the equity holders of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest determined
at the date when control is lost and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if
the parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and
any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset, an associate, a joint venture or
others, as appropriate, from the date when control is lost.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, which is presented within these notes, investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less impairment losses. The carrying amounts of the investments are reduced to their respective
recoverable amounts on an individual basis if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

ASSOCIATES
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control of those policies.

The Group's investment in associate is accounted for under the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment or a portion thereof is classified as held for sale. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of the investee’s net assets and
any impairment loss relating to the investment. Except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses
when the Group's share of losses of the investee equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in the investee,
which includes any long term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the investee.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of an associate is measured as the excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired associate. Such goodwill is included in
interests in associates. On the other hand, any excess of the Group's share of its net fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of investment is recognised immediately in profit or loss as an income.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the investees, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is measured as the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if applicable) and the fair value of any previously held equity interest
in the acquiree over the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the
acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a separate asset and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, which is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and determination of gain or loss on disposal,
goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development activities, which involve the application of
research findings to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes, are
capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources to
complete the development. The capitalised expenditure includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised as expenses in profit or loss as incurred. When
the asset is available for use, the capitalised development costs are amortised and subject to impairment review on the
same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is
expensed in the statement of profit or loss when incurred.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives are
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, being their fair value at the
date of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination with
indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group's contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the financial asset.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (continued)
Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(©) the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group
considers the concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue or income is recognised on the following basis:

o Service income from the provision of telecommunication services is recognised as income at point in time when
the services are rendered. In case the services provided are on project based, service income is recognised as
income over time;

o Service income from the provision of financial payment processing solution and software development services
is recognised as income over time because (i) the Group develops the products according to the customer’s
specification and the Group is limited practically or contractually from directing the final products and any assets
created or enhanced during the production process for another use; and (i) the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for the performance completed to date if the customer were to cancel the contract for reasons other
than the Group’s failure to perform as promised;

o Service income from the provision of distribution services is recognised as income at point in time when the
services are rendered.

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided the outcome of the performance obligation can be
reasonably measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based on the direct measurements of the value to the
customer of the goods or services transferred to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract) to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation because the method
provides a faithful depiction of the Group’s performance and reliable information is available to the Group to apply the
method. Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until such time that it can reasonably
measure the outcome of the performance obligation. The principal input applied in the output method for provision
of financial payment processing solution and software development services to external customers is based on result
achieved.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS (continued)
The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

o Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented and, where applicable, goodwill and
fair value adjustments on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation which are to be treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation, are translated at the closing
rate at the end of the reporting period.

3 Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rate.

. All resulting exchange differences arising from the above translation and exchange differences arising from a
monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a separate
component of equity.

o On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.
On the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling
interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss.

o On all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of
exchange differences recognised in the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS, OTHER THAN GOODWILL

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal and external sources of information to assess whether
there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, interests in associates
and investment in subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment losses previously recognised no longer exist or may be
reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows
independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the

carrying amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made by the management in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based
on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period of revision and future
periods, in those cases where the revision also affects future periods.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for trade and other receivables by using various inputs and
assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which
is based on the Group's historical information, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying amount of trade and other receivables. Details of the key assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

The Group determines whether intangible assets and goodwill are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which intangible assets and goodwill are allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected cash flows from the cash-
generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Details of the estimates used to calculate the recoverable amount are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets at the end of each reporting period in accordance with the accounting policies as disclosed above. In determining
whether these assets are impaired or the event previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the directors have
to assess whether an event has occurred that may affect the assets value or such event affecting the assets value has
not been in existence. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of these assets would be determined by
reference to value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. In determining the recoverable amounts of these assets,
expected cash flows to be generated by the assets are discounted to their present value, which involves significant levels
of estimates relating to sales volume, selling prices and other operating costs. When a decline in an asset’s recoverable
amount has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount.

Impairment of investments and receivables

The Group assesses annually if investments in subsidiaries/associates have suffered any impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 and follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 in determining whether amounts due from these entities are impaired.
Details of the approach are stated in the respective accounting policies. The assessment requires an estimation of
future cash flows, including expected dividends, from the assets and the selection of appropriate discount rates. Future
changes in financial performance and position of these entities would affect the estimation of impairment loss and
cause the adjustments of their carrying amounts.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Useful lives of intangible assets

The Group assesses whether the intangible assets have finite useful lives at the end of each reporting period. In
determining useful lives of intangible assets, the Group considers various factors, such as expected usage of the asset,
forecasted customer attrition pattern, expected period of future economic benefit and legal or similar limits on the use
of the asset. The estimation of the useful lives of intangible assets is based on the experience of the management with
similar intangible assets that generate similar future economic benefits.

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities as lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit in
the leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discounts rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that
is readily observable as the starting point and then applies judgement and adjusts such observable rate to determine the
incremental borrowing rate.

Estimation of lease term of contracts with extension options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by
an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised. The Group has lease contracts that include
extension options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to
exercise the options to extend the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for
it to exercise the extension. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term whether there is a
significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise
the option to extend.

The extension option for the lease of office has not been included in lease liability because the directors consider that
the probability of exercise the option to extend the lease is remote.

As at 31 December 2019, potential future (undiscounted) cash outflows of approximately SGD103,000 (equivalent
to HK$594,000) have not been included in lease liabilities because it is not reasonably certain that the leases will be
extended.

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8 Definition of Material !

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 7 and 9  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform '

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business ?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture *

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

The effective date to be determined

A WwoON =

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(b) (continued)

Included in other debtors as at 31 December 2019 was a receivable of HK$5,049,000 (2018: HK$5,348,000) in relation to
a management fee income due from a public company, in which the Company’s former director, Mr. Yeung has beneficial
interest. In view of deterioration in the financial position of the debtor and the result of negotiation, the management considers
the recoverability of the amounts due is in doubt. Therefore, loss allowances of approximately HK$3,244,000 were made
during the year.

Included in other debtors as at 31 December 2019 was a receivable of HK$4,304,000 (2018: HK$4,304,000) due from a third
party which was arising from the proceeds from the disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in 2017. In
view of the prolonged outstanding and lost contact with the debtor, the management considers that the recoverability of these
receivables is in doubt. Therefore, full loss allowances of HK$4,304,000 have been made in profit or loss during the year.

Included in other debtors as at 31 December 2018 were advancements of HK$43,433,000 made to a company which is
owned by a managing director of a PRC subsidiary of the Group. Although, a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary had
provided an undertaking to indemnify the Group against any losses from non-recovery of the advances of HK$24,625,000,
the management considered it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy/liquidation or other financial reorganisation
and the recoverability of the amounts due was in doubt. Therefore, full amount of loss allowances of HK$43,433,000 were
provided during the year ended 31 December 2018. The debtor was finally deregistered in November 2019, the loss allowances
of HK$43,433,000 was written off accordingly for year ended 31 December 2019.

() As at 31 December 2018, amount due from an associate of HK$ 1,000,000 which was the consideration receivable from the
disposal of assets of a business unit in 2017 were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. During the year, advance
to the associate of HK$350,000 was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. At the end of the reporting period,
the business of the associate ceased business in mid of 2019. In view of the financial position of the associate has been
deteriorated, the management considers that the recoverability of these receivables of HK$ 1,350,000 was in doubt. Therefore,
loss allowances of HK$1,175,000 have been made in profit or loss during the year.

(d) As at 31 December 2019, loan receivable of RMB10, 168,000 (equivalent to HK$11,388,000) from a non-controlling interest
of a subsidiary is unsecured, interest bearing at the fixed rate of 4.35% per annum and repayable in December 2020 (2018:
unsecured, interest bearing at the fixed rate of 4.35% per annum and repayable in December 2019). In view of prolonged
outstanding without settlement, the management considers it is probable that the recoverability of the loan receivable
was in doubt. Therefore, loss allowances of RMB10,558,000 (equivalent to HK$11,825,000) have been fully made as the
loan receivable of RMB10,168,000 (equivalent to HK$11,388,000) and interest receivable of RMB390,000 (equivalent to
HK$437,000) in profit or loss during the year (2018: HK$nil).

19. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged bank deposits amounting to approximately HK$738,000
(2018: HK$885,000). At the end of the reporting period, bank guarantees of approximately HK$738,000 (2018:
HK$815,000) were issued to suppliers for operational requirements. The directors do not consider it is probable that
a claim will be made against the Group under these guarantees. The amounts utilised by the Group at the end of
the reporting period under these guarantees were approximately HK$526,000 (2018: HK$667,000), representing the
outstanding amounts payable to these suppliers.
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

(b)

(@)

Contract liabilities

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases both occurred within the same year) of
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

2019 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

At the beginning of the reporting period 1,505 5,564

Disposal of a subsidiary - (4,350)

Recognised as revenue (1,462) (1,140)
Receipt of advances or recognition of receivables 1,536 1,431
At the end of the reporting period 1,579 1,505

Revenue recognised during the year included in the contract liabilities balance of HK$1,462,000 (2018:
HK$1,140,000) at the beginning of the reporting period.

UNSATISFIED OR PARTIALLY UNSATISFIED PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
All the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at 31 December 2019 (2018: all) are
part of contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less.

The amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or
partially unsatisfied) at 31 December 2019 is HK$1,579,000 (2018: HK$1,505,000), the expected timing of
revenue recognition of which is within 1 year (the figures include the contract liabilities as disclosed above).

The consideration payable for the business combination in 2016 is unsecured, interest-free and payable on
demand (2018: payable in June 2019).

The amount due to former director, Mr. Yeung, represented the remaining balance of consideration received
from the disposal of 5,700,000 ordinary shares of SingAsia Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8293) (the “SingAsia
Shares”) on 9 June 2017, which was finally not approved at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 29 December 2017 (“SingAsia Disposal”). As at 31 December 2017, the total amount of approximately
HK$41,552,000 received from Mr. Yeung was accounted for as “other payables” and the 5,700,000 SingAsia
Shares held by Mr. Yeung on behalf of the Group carried at a fair value approximately of HK$101,802,000 are
classified as “financial assets at FVPL".

In March 2018, the 5,700,000 SingAsia Shares were sub-divided into 28,500,000 shares after sub-division of the
issued share capital of SingAsia Holdings Limited (“Sub-divided SingAsia Shares”), of which 20,000,000 Sub-
divided SingAsia Shares were returned to the Group by Mr. Yeung in exchange of consideration of approximately
HK$29,159,000 previously received by the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, 8,500,000 Sub-divided SingAsia Shares were held by Mr. Yeung and the related
balance of consideration received of approximately HK$12,393,000 was accounted for as “due to a former
director”. As disclosed in the Company’s announcement on 12 March 2019, the Group had, through its
solicitors, issued a writ of summons to commence legal proceedings against Mr. Yeung to request for the
transfer of 8,500,000 Sub-divided SingAsia Shares and the compensation of damages suffered from the breach
of contract.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(A)

(B)

EQUITY PRICE RISK
The Group is exposed to price risks arising from equity investments held under financial assets at FVPL amounted
to HK$1,448,000 (2018: HK$129,806,000), which are held for trading purposes.

The Group is also exposed to price risk arising from Designated FVOCI amounted to HK$2,384,000 (2018:
HK$2,663,000), which are held for strategic rather than trading purposes.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk of equity investments
under financial assets at FVPL. At the end of the reporting period, if the equity price had been 15% (2018:
15%) higher or lower while all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss would decrease or
increase by approximately HK$217,000 (2018: HK$19,471,000) due to change in the fair value of financial
assets at FVPL.

The sensitivity analysis has also been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk of equity investments
under Designated FVOCI. At the end of the reporting period, if the equity price to the valuation model had
been 10% (2018: 10%) higher or lower while all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss would
have been unaffected since these equity investments are classified as Designated FVOCI. Investment revaluation
reserve would increase or decrease by HK$238,000 (2018: HK$266,000) as a result of changes in fair value of
Designated FVOCI.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible changes in the stock market
index or other relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to equity price risk in existence at that date. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group's
investments would change in accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant stock market index or
the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The
stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market
index or the relevant risk variables over the period until the next annual end of the reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2018.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through consideration payable for business
combination in 2016 which is denominated in RMB.

At 31 December 2019, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2018: 5%) against HK$ with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s net loss for the year would have been HK$1,768,000 (2018:
HK$1,800,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign currency losses/gains on translation of other payables.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the Group’s exposure to currency risk for above
financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant. The stated changes represent management'’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the period until the next annual end of the reporting period. The analysis was performed on
the similar basis for 2018.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Any enquiries relating to your shareholding, for example transfer of shares, change of name or address, or lost share certificates,
should be sent to:

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Bermuda: Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong:
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited Tricor Secretaries Limited

4th floor North Cedar House Level 54

41 Cedar Avenue Hopewell Centre

Hamilton HM12 183 Queen'’s Road East

Bermuda Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Enquiries may be directed to:

Investor Relations

Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited
Suite 1402, 14/F

Henley Building

No.5 Queen’s Road Central Telephone: +852 2522 3800
Central Facsimile: +852 2111 2665
Hong Kong Email: investor@gwhbrhk.com

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

On 15 September 2003, the Company sent a letter to its shareholders (the “Shareholders”) to enable them to select, among
others, to receive all future corporate communications of the Company in either the English language or the Chinese language
or both languages. This annual report, in either the English language or the Chinese language or both languages, is being
delivered to each Shareholder in accordance with his/her selection made or, if no selection has been made by Shareholder, the
arrangement as set forth in the said letter.

The Shareholders may also obtain this annual report in the language other than that he/she now receives upon request to the
Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong. For further enquiries, please contact Tricor Secretaries Limited at telephone no. 2980 1333
or facsimile no. 2861 1465.
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This annual report, in both the English and the Chinese languages and in accessible format, has been made available on the
Company'’s website and a soft copy thereof has been submitted to Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.

The Shareholders may at any time choose to receive corporate communications in printed form or electronically.

In order to select to receive corporate communications of the Company in the English language or the Chinese language
or both languages, or to receive electronic communications, or to revoke or amend an instruction previously made, the
Shareholders may complete, sign and return to the Company or Tricor Secretaries Limited, the Company's branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong a prescribed instruction
slip by mail or by email to greatwallbr524-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com, a copy of which is printed at the end of this annual report
and is available on the Company’s website (www.gwbrhk.com).
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